No. \_\_\_\_\_

In the Supreme Court of the United States

REPRESENTATIVE RYAN GUILLEN, TEXAS HOUSE MEMBER, REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS LANDGRAF, TEXAS HOUSE MEMBER & REPRESENTATIVE JOHN LUJAN, TEXAS HOUSE MEMBER,

Third-Party Applicants,

v.

LEAGUE OF UNITED LATIN AMERICAN CITIZENS, ET AL.,

Respondents.

TO THE HONORABLE SAMUEL A. ALITO, JR., ASSOCIATE JUSTICE OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES AND CIRCUIT JUSTICE FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT ON APPLICATION FOR A STAY PENDING APPEAL

# APPENDIX TO EMERGENCY APPLICATION FOR STAY

Ken Paxton Attorney General of Texas

Brent Webster First Assistant Attorney General

Judd E. Stone II Solicitor General

Patrick K. Sweeten Deputy Attorney General William T. Thompson Deputy Chief, Special Litigation Unit Jack B. DiSorbo Assistant Attorney General

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL P.O. Box 12548 (MC-009) Austin, TX 78711-2548 (512) 463-2100 Taylor A.R. Meehan *Counsel of Record* Frank H. Chang CONSOVOY MCCARTHY PLLC 1600 Wilson Blvd., Suite 700 Arlington, VA 22209 (703) 243-9423 taylor@consovoymccarthy.com

Adam K. Mortara LAWFAIR LLC 125 South Wacker, Suite 300 Chicago, IL 60606 (773) 750-7154 mortara@lawfairllc.com

Counsel for Applicants

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

District Court Order Denying Legislators' Motions to Quash Deposition Subpoenas (May 18, 2022)	App. 1
District Court Order Denying Legislators' Motion to Stay Depositions Pending Appeal	App. 7
Fifth Circuit Order Denying Legislators' Motion to Stay Depositions Pending Appeal	App. 8
Complaint, United States v. Texas, 3:21-cv-299	App. 20

REFRIEVED FROM DEMOCRACY DOCKET, COM

#### **UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT** WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS **EL PASO DIVISION**

LEAGUE OF UNITED LATIN	§	
AMERICAN CITIZENS, et al.,	§	
	§	
Plaintiffs,	§	
	§	
EDDIE BERNICE JOHNSON, et al.,	§	EP-21-CV-00259-DCG-JES-J
	§	[Lead Case]
Plaintiff-Intervenors,	§	&
<b>v.</b>	§	a
	§	All Consolidated Cases
<b>GREG ABBOTT,</b> <i>in his official capacity as</i>	§	An consolitated cases
Governor of the State of Texas, et al.,	§	~
	§	COM
Defendants.	§	

# JVB

### ORDER

The United States and private Plaintiffs issued deposition subpoenas to certain State Representatives. Citing state legislative privilege, those State Representatives ask the Court to quash the deposition subpoenas, or issue a protective order that would limit the subject matter the United States and private Plaintiffs could inquire about. The Court concludes that issues of state legislative privilege are not yet ripe for decision. Concluding as much, the Court DENIES the motions and outlines procedures for depositions and assertions of legislative privilege.

#### I. BACKGROUND

Both the United States and private Plaintiffs subpoenaed Texas Representatives Ryan Guillen, Brooks Landgraf, and John Lujan (the "Legislators") to testify at a deposition in this case. Dkts. 259 Exs. B-D and 271 Exs. A-C. The depositions are currently scheduled to take place on May 24 and 25. Id.; Dkt. 280 n.1. In response to those subpoenas, and after failed negotiations on the matter, Dkt. 259 Ex. A, the Legislators filed motions to quash or modify the deposition subpoenas or, in the alternative, for a protective order, Dkts. 259 and 278.

- 1 -

#### **II. DISCUSSION**

No doubt state legislators enjoy broad immunity from suit for actions they take during the course of their legislative duties. *Tenney v. Brandhove*, 341 U.S. 367, 377–78 (1951). Such an immunity has long been recognized. *E.g., id.* at 372–76; *Bogan v. Scott-Harris*, 523 U.S. 44, 54–55 (1998). But the questions confronting this Court are ones of state legislative privilege, not immunity.

State legislative privilege is a federal common law privilege, "applied through Rule 501 of the Federal Rules of Evidence." *Jefferson Cmty. Health Care Ctrs., Inc. v. Jefferson Parish Gov't*, 849 F.3d 615, 624 (5th Cir. 2017) (quotation omitted). The privilege "is, at best, one which is qualified." *Id.* (quoting *Perez v. Perry*, No. SA-11-CV-360-OLG-JES, 2014 WL 106927, at \*2 (W.D. Tex. Jan. 8, 2014)); *see also United States v. Gillock*, 445 U.S. 360, 373 (1980) (recognizing the privilege as limited in the context of a federal criminal prosecution). It "must be strictly construed and accepted only to the very limited extent that permitting a refusal to testify or excluding relevant evidence has a public good transcending the normally predominant principle of utilizing all rational means for ascertaining the truth." *Jefferson Cmty.*, 849 F.3d at 624 (quoting *Perez*, 2014 WL 106927, at \*1).

At this juncture, the Court is not positioned to rule on what information may or may not be the subject of state legislative privilege. Whether state legislative privilege attaches is factand context-specific; for the purposes of depositions, "it depends on the question being posed."<sup>1</sup> *Perez v. Perry*, No. SA-11-CV-360-OLG-JES, Dkt. 102 at 5 (W.D. Tex. Aug. 1, 2011). Here, no questions have been asked, and no answers given. Suffice it to say, the privilege is not so broad as to compel the Court to quash the deposition subpoenas, modify them, or enter a protective

- 2 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is worth noting that this is consistent with the manner in which depositions normally proceed. Questions are asked, objections are raised, answers are given. *E.g.*, Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(c)(2).

#### Case 3:21-cv-00259-DCG-JES-JVB Document 282 Filed 05/18/22 Page 3 of 6

order prohibiting questions about topics that are not strictly within the public record. *See, e.g.*, *Veasey v. Perry*, No. 2:13-cv-193, Dkt. 341, at 1 (S.D. Tex. Jun. 18, 2014); *Texas v. Holder*, 1:12-cv-128-RMC-DST-RLW, Dkt. 84 (D.D.C. Apr. 20, 2012) (refusing to grant blanket protective order); *Perez*, No. SA-11-CV-360-OLG-JES, Dkt. 102.

With respect to questions about the Legislators' motive or intent, which the Legislators vehemently argue will seek information protected by state legislative privilege, *see generally* Dkts. 259 and 278, the Court is of the opinion that those issues are not yet directly raised. As said, state legislative privilege may be limited—that is, it is not coextensive with state legislative immunity. *E.g.*, *Jefferson Cmty.*, 849 F.3d at 624; *Rodriguez v. Pataki*, 280 F. Supp. 2d 89, 94–104 (S.D.N.Y. 2003). Whether state legislative privilege applies will depend on more detailed and nuanced facts than those currently before the Court.

It should also be said that the Court recognizes it should proceed with great caution when discussing the intent of *the legislature* through the actions of individual *legislators*. It is true, as the Legislators argue, that "[e]vidence of any one legislator's intent cannot be conflated with the legislature's purpose as a whole," Mot., Dkt. 278 at 9. Individual legislators often have different motivations for voting in favor of a bill. *See, e.g., Brunovich v. DNC*, 141 S. Ct. 2321, 2349–50 (2021); *United States v. O'Brien*, 391 U.S. 367, 383–84 (1968); *Am. Trucking Assocs., Inc. v. Alviti*, 14 F.4th 76, 90 (1st Cir. 2021). But that does not mean evidence of individual motive is necessarily irrelevant to the question of the legislature's motive. *Alviti*, 14 F.4th at 90; *LULAC v. Abbott*, No. 3:21-CV-259-DCG-JES-JVB, 2022 WL 1410729, at \*22 n.13 (W.D. Tex. May 4, 2022). If evidence of intent were to come to light, and if it were not subject to state legislative privilege, the Court is well positioned to give that evidence whatever weight it is due. *See LULAC*, 2022 WL 1410729, at \*22 n.13.

In any event, there are other purposes for deposing the Legislators. They may have relevant, non-privileged information about topics "such as political behavior, the history of discrimination, and socioeconomic disparities." Resp., Dkt. 271 at 11. They may have "firsthand knowledge of any number of issues—from discrimination within their home districts, to legislator responsiveness to communities of color, to the alternative maps considered during the redistricting process." Resp., Dkt. 272 at 6. Texas contends that even if the Legislators have relevant, non-privileged information, the burden imposed on the Legislators by having to sit for a deposition outweighs the benefit of obtaining that information. Reply, Dkt. 277 at 8 (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(d)(3)(A)(iv)).

The Court is persuaded that there are likely to be relevant areas of inquiry that fall outside of topics potentially covered by state legislative privilege. Furthermore, the Court does not think the burden of having to sit for a deposition outweighs the relevant information the United States and private Plaintiffs may obtain. *Cf. United States v. Gillock*, 445 U.S. 360, 373 (1980) (citing *United States v. Nixon*, 418 U.S. 683 (1974)) ("We recognize that denial of a privilege to a state legislator may have some *minimal* impact on the exercise of his legislative function." (emphasis added)). There is no reason, at this time, to quash or modify the deposition subpoenas, or to issue a protective order placing limits on the subject matter.

Accordingly, the Court adopts the following procedure, originally used by the last threejudge court to hear Texas redistricting cases:

- (1) Parties should proceed with depositions and the deponents must appear and testify even if it appears likely that legislative privilege may be invoked in response to certain questions.
- (2) Deponents may invoke legislative privilege in response to particular questions, but the deponent invoking the privilege must then answer the question in full. The response will be subject to the privilege.

- (3) The portions of deposition transcripts containing questions and answers subject to the privilege shall be deemed to contain confidential information and shall therefore be subject to the "Consent Confidentiality and Protective Order" (Dkt. 202) previously entered in this case.
- (4) If a party wishes to use any portion of deposition testimony that is subject to legislative privilege, that party must seal those portions and submit them to the Court for *in camera* review, along with a motion to compel.<sup>2</sup>
- (5) Any such motion to compel shall be filed by **August 1, 2022**. Though the Court sets this deadline, it encourages the parties to file earlier, if at all possible.

Perez v. Perry, No. SA-11-CV-360-OLG-JES, Dkt. 102 at 5-6 (W.D. Tex. Aug. 1, 2011).

In adopting this approach, the Court warns the parties that *any* public disclosure of information to which a privilege has been asserted may result in sanctions, including the striking of pleadings. All counsel are ORDERED to spare no effort to ensure that no individual—whether they be counsel, court reporter, videographer, witness, or any other person hearing or having access to information subject to privilege—disseminates information subject to privilege to any person not permitted to handle that information or in any manner (*e.g.*, disclosure to media, posting on social media).

Finally, nothing in this Order should be construed as deciding any issue of state legislative privilege. The Court will be better positioned to make decisions on state legislative privilege if the issue comes more squarely before the Court—that is, if the Court is presented with specific questions and specific invocations of state legislative privilege.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A motion to compel shall be filed for the purpose of asserting why information, to which a privilege objection has been raised, should be disclosed because it is not subject to the privilege, the privilege has been waived, or the privilege should not be enforced.

Case 3:21-cv-00259-DCG-JES-JVB Document 282 Filed 05/18/22 Page 6 of 6

#### III. CONCLUSION

The Legislators' "Motion to Quash or Modify Deposition Subpoenas and Motion for

Protective Order" (ECF No. 259) and "Motion to Quash or Modify Private Plaintiffs' Deposition Subpoenas and Motion for Protective Order" (ECF No. 278) are DENIED.

So ORDERED and SIGNED this 18th day of May 2022.

**GUADERRAMA UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE** 

And on behalf of:

Jerry E. Smith **United States Circuit Judge** U.S. Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit RETRIEVED FROM DEMOCRA

-and-

Jeffrey V. Brown United States District Judge Southern District of Texas

- 6 -

#### UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS EL PASO DIVISION

LEAGUE OF UNITED LATIN	§
AMERICAN CITIZENS, et al.,	§
	§
Plaintiffs,	§
	§ EP-21-CV-00259-DCG-JES-JVB
EDDIE BERNICE JOHNSON, et al.,	§ [Lead Case]
	§ [Lead Case]
Plaintiff-Intervenors,	§ &
<b>V.</b>	§ a
	§ All Consolidated Cases
<b>GREG ABBOTT,</b> <i>in his official capacity as</i>	§ All Consolidated Cases
Governor of the State of Texas, et al.,	§
	8

**ORDER** 

§

After carefully considering the Legislators' "Emergency Motion to Stay Legislators'

Depositions Pending Appeal" (ECF No. 283) and the briefs in opposition, the Court **DENIES** the Motion to Stay.

So ORDERED and SIGNED on this 19th day of May 2022.

DAVID C. GUADERRAMA UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

And on behalf of:

Jerry E. Smith United States Circuit Judge U.S. Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit

Defendants.

-and-

Jeffrey V. Brown United States District Judge Southern District of Texas

# United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit

No. 22-50407

League of United Latin American Citizens; Southwest Voter Registration Education Project; Mi Familia Vota; American GI Forum of Texas; La Union Del Pueblo Entero; Mexican American Bar Association of Texas; Texas Hispanics Organized for Political Education; William C. Velasquez Institute; Fiel Houston, Incorporated; Texas Association of Latino Administrators and Superintendents; Emelda Menendez; Gilberto Menendez; Jose Olivares; Florinda Chavez; Joey Cardenas; Sandra Puente; Jose R. Reyes; Shirley Anna Fleming; Louie Minor, Jr.; Norma Cavazos; Proyecto Azteca; Reform Immigration for Texas Alliance; Workers Defense Project; Paulita Sanchez; Jo Ann Acevedo; David Lopez; Diana Martinez Alexander; Jeandra Ortiz,

Plaintiffs—Appellees,

Sheila Jackson Lee; Alexander Green; Jasmine Crockett; Eddie Bernice Johnson,

Intervenor Plaintiffs—Appellees,

versus

Greg Abbott

Defendant,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Movants—Appellants,

VOTO LATINO; ROSALINDA RAMOS ABUABARA; AKILAH BACY; ORLANDO FLORES; MARILENA GARZA; CECILIA GONZALES; Agustin Loredo; Cinia Montoya; Ana Ramon; Jana Lynne SANCHEZ; JERRY SHAFER; DEBBIE LYNN SOLIS; ANGEL ULLOA; MARY URIBE,

> Plaintiffs—Appellees, ,PACTDOCKET.CON

v.

JOHN SCOTT, ET AL.,

Defendants,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Appellants,

MEXICAN AMERICAN LEGISLATIVE CAUCUS,

Plaintiff—Appellee,

versus

STATE OF TEXAS, ET AL.,

Defendants,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Appellants,

Roy Charles Brooks; Felipe Gutierrez; Phyllis Goins; Eva Bonilla; Clara Faulkner; Deborah Spell; Beverly Powell,

Plaintiffs—Appellees,

versus

GREG ABBOTT, ET AL.,

Defendants,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Appellants,

**TEXAS STATE CONFERENCE OF THE NAACP** 

Plaintiff—Appellee,

versus

Greg Abbott

Defendant,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Appellants,

FAIR MAPS TEXAS ACTION COMMITTEE; OCA-GREATER Houston; North Texas Chapter of the Asian Pacific Islander Americans Public Affairs Association; Emgage; Turner Khanay; Angela Rainey; Austin Ruiz; Aya Eneli; Sofia Sheikh; Jennifer Cazares; Niloufar Hafizi; Lakshmi Ramakrishnan; Amatulla Contractor; Deborah Chen; Arthur Resa; Sumita Ghosh; Anand Krishnaswamy,

Plaintiffs—Appellees,

versus

GREG ABBOTT, ET AL.,

Defendants,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Appellants,

United States of America

Plaintiff—Appellee,

versus

STATE OF TEXAS, ET AL.,

Defendants,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Appellants,

TREY MARTINEZ FISCHER,

Plaintiff—Appellee,

versus

JOHN SCOTT, in his official capacity as Secretary of State of Texas, ET AL.,

Defendants,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Appellants,

VERONICA ESCOBAR, U.S. Representative of the 16th Congressional District of Texas,

Plaintiff—Appellee,

versus

GREG ABBOTT, in his official capacity as Governor of the State of Texas, ET AL.,

Defendants,

RYAN GUILLEN, Texas House Member; BROOKS LANDGRAF, Texas House Member; JOHN LUJAN, Texas House Member,

Appellants.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas USDC No. 3:21-CV-259 USDC No. 1:21-CV-965 USDC No. 1:21-CV-988 USDC No. 1:21-CV-991 USDC No. 1:21-CV-1006 USDC No. 1:21-CV-1038 USDC No. 3:21-CV-299 USDC No. 3:21-CV-306 USDC No. 3:22-CV-22

Before KING, HIGGINSON, and WILLETT, Circuit Judges. STEPHEN A. HIGGINSON:

This is a redistricting case. Movants-Appellants ("Movants") are members of the Texas House of Representatives. After receiving deposition subpoenas, Movants asked the three-judge district court to either quash the subpoenas or issue a protective order limiting the subject matter that they could be asked about, citing state legislative privilege. The district court denied the motion, concluding that the legislative privilege issue was not yet ripe. The district court also outlined procedures for the depositions that were intended to protect the legislative privilege if it arose. Movants then asked this court to stay the depositions pending appeal. That request is DENIED.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> We conclude that we have jurisdiction over this motion. *See In re Hubbard*, 803 F.3d 1298, 1305 (11th Cir. 2015) ("[O]ne who unsuccessfully asserts a governmental privilege may immediately appeal a discovery order where he is not a party to the lawsuit." (citing *Branch v. Phillips Petroleum Co.*, 638 F.2d 873, 879 (5th Cir. 1981)); *see also Whole Woman's Health v. Smith*, 896 F.3d 362, 367-69 (5th Cir. 2018).

Judge Willett concurs in the judgment because he is unconvinced that we have jurisdiction under the collateral order doctrine. See Mohawk Indus., Inc. v. Carpenter, 558

\* \*

Four factors govern our decision whether to issue a stay: "(1) whether the stay applicant has made a strong showing that he is likely to succeed on the merits; (2) whether the applicant will be irreparably injured absent a stay; (3) whether issuance of the stay will substantially injure the other parties interested in the proceeding; and (4) where the public interest lies." *Nken v. Holder*, 556 U.S. 418, 434 (2009). "The party requesting a stay bears the burden of showing that the circumstances justify an exercise of that discretion." *Id.* at 433-34.

Movants have not shown that they are likely to succeed on the merits. Both this court and the Supreme Court have confirmed that the state legislative privilege is not absolute. See Jefferson Cmty. Health Care Centers, Inc. v. Jefferson Par. Gov't, 849 F.3d 615, 624 (5th Cir. 2017) ("[T]he legislative privilege for state lawmakers is, at best, one which is qualified." (citation omitted)); United States v. Gillock, 445 U.S. 360, 361 (1980) ("Recognition of an evidentiary privilege for state legislators for their legislative acts would impair the legitimate interest of the Federal Government in enforcing its criminal statutes with only speculative benefits to the state legislative process."). Here, the district court did not deny that state legislative privilege might apply to this case. Indeed, it emphatically stated that "nothing in this Order should be construed as deciding any issue of state legislative privilege." Rather, the district court simply concluded that "there are likely to be relevant areas of inquiry that fall outside of topics potentially covered by state legislative privilege" and that the issues relating

U.S. 100, 108 (2009) (noting that "we have generally denied review of pretrial discovery orders" (quoting *Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. v. Risjord*, 449 U.S. 368, 377 (1981)). Judge Willett believes that *Whole Woman's Health v. Smith* is distinguishable because it concerned a very different type of privilege, one resting on the First Amendment. 896 F.3d 362, 367-69 (5th Cir. 2018).

to the privilege were "not yet ripe for decision," since "no questions have been asked, and no answer given." Given *Jefferson Community Health* and *Gillock*, we agree with the district court that "the [state legislative] privilege is not so broad as to compel the [district court] to quash the deposition subpoenas, modify them, or enter a protective order prohibiting questions about topics that are not strictly within the public record." The district court is taking an admirably deliberate and cautious approach to the legislative privilege issue, and movants are not likely to show that the court erred by denying their motion to quash.<sup>2</sup>

Movants also have not shown that they will be irreparably injured absent a stay. Rather, the district court's vigilant and narrow order goes to great lengths to protect Movants. The district court's order provided that when Movants are being deposed, they "may invoke legislative privilege in response to particular questions." And while the deponent "must then answer the question in full," their "response will be subject to the privilege." These privileged responses will be "deemed to contain confidential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Movants mischaracterize the district court's order in their motion, suggesting that it "ignore[s] legislative privilege" and applies a "Texas redistricting exception to legislative privilege." The district court in fact carefully considered the issue of legislative privilege and neutrally followed the law of this circuit. Movants also mischaracterize the law of other circuits in their brief. Like us and the Supreme Court, the First, Ninth and Eleventh Circuits all recognize that the state legislative privilege is qualified. See Am. Trucking Associations, Inc. v. Alviti, 14 F.4th 76, 88 (1st Cir. 2021) ("We need not reject altogether the possibility that there might be a private civil case in which state legislative immunity must be set to one side because the case turns so heavily on subjective motive or purpose."); Lee v. City of Los Angeles, 908 F.3d 1175, 1188 (9th Cir. 2018) (rejecting plaintiffs' request for a "categorical exception" to the privilege and basing its holding on that case's "factual record"); In re Hubbard, 803 F.3d 1298, 1311 (11th Cir. 2015) ("To be sure, a state lawmaker's legislative privilege must yield in some circumstances."). Moreover, none of these cases involved the kind of extensive procedural safeguards designed to protect the privilege that, as discussed below, the district court implemented in this case.

information" and subject to the district court's previously issued "Consent Confidentiality and Protective Order." A party that wishes to use any privileged testimony must submit that testimony "to the [district court] for *in camera* review, along with a motion to compel" asserting that the testimony "is not subject to the privilege, the privilege has been waived, or the privilege should not be enforced." The district court also warned the parties "that *any* public disclosure of information to which a privilege has been asserted may result in sanctions." Given these carefully crafted procedures, Movants will not be irreparably injured absent a stay. The district court is ready and willing to protect the state legislative privilege if and when the issue arises.

The state legislative privilege must be protected when it arises; at the same time, the privilege must not be used as a cudgel to prevent the discovery of non-privileged information or to prevent the discovery of the truth in cases where the federal interests at stake outweigh the interests protected by the privilege. *See Jefferson Cmty. Health*, 849 F.3d at 624; *Gillock*, 445 U.S. at 361; *see also Vill. of Arlington Heights v. Metro. Hous. Dev. Corp.*, 429 U.S. 252, 268 (1977) (explaining that "[t]]he legislative or administrative history may be highly relevant" in Equal Protection cases and that "[i]n some extraordinary instances[,] the members [of the relevant governmental entity] might be called to the stand at trial to testify concerning the purpose of the official action, although even then such testimony frequently will be barred by privilege"). As highlighted above, the district court's approach to this case has been admirably prudent, cautious, vigilant, and narrow. Thus, as to the fourth *Nken* factor, we conclude that the district court's approach to the case thus far accords with the public interest.

\* \* \*

IT IS ORDERED that Appellants' opposed motion to stay district court depositions pending appeal is DENIED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Appellants' opposed alternative motion to stay depositions pending the Supreme Court's decision in U.S.S.C. No. 21-1086, *Merrill v. Milligan*, is DENIED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Appellants' opposed motion for a temporary administrative stay pending consideration of motion is DENIED.

REPRIEVED FROM DEMOCRACY DOCKER.COM

# United States Court of Appeals

FIFTH CIRCUIT OFFICE OF THE CLERK

LYLE W. CAYCE CLERK TEL. 504-310-7700 600 S. MAESTRI PLACE, Suite 115 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70130

May 20, 2022

MEMORANDUM TO COUNSEL OR PARTIES LISTED BELOW:

No. 22-50407 League of United Latin Amer v. Guillen USDC No. 3:21-CV-259 USDC No. 1:21-CV-965 USDC No. 1:21-CV-988 USDC No. 1:21-CV-991 USDC No. 1:21-CV-1006 USDC No. 1:21-CV-1038 USDC No. 3:21-CV-299 USDC No. 3:21-CV-306 USDC No. 3:22-CV-22 Enclosed is an order entered in this case.

Sincerely,

LYLE W. CAYCE, Clerk

Sompard amel

By: Laney L. Lampard, Deputy Clerk 504-310-7652

Mr. Gary Lynn Bledsoe Mr. Noaĥ Bokat-Lindell Ms. Aria Branch Mr. Kembel Scott Brazil Mr. Frank Hyok Chang Ms. Pooja Cĥaudhuri Ms. Jeannette Clack Ms. Lindsey Beth Cohan Ms. Molly Danahy Mr. Chad Wilson Dunn Mr. Daniel Joshua Freeman Mr. Mark P. Gaber Mr. Martin Golando Mr. Kevin J. Hamilton Mr. Thomas M. Herrin Mr. Renea Hicks Ms. Denise Marie Hulett Ms. Katherine Elmlinger Lamm Ms. Taylor A.R. Meehan Mr. Adam K. Mortara

- Mr. Robert Stephen Notzon Ms. Nina Perales Mr. George A. Quesada Mr. George A. Quesada Ms. Bonnie Ilene Robin-Vergeer Mr. Ezra D. Rosenberg Mr. Andre Segura Mr. Neil A. Steiner Mr. Patrick K. Sweeten Mr. Jerry Vattamala

REPRESED FROM DEMOCRACY DOCKET.COM

#### IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS EL PASO DIVISION

#### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

Civil Action No. 3:21-cv-299

STATE OF TEXAS and JOHN SCOTT, in his official capacity as Texas Secretary of State,

Defendants.

#### **COMPLAINT**

The United States of America, plaintiff herein, alleges:

1. The 2020 Census confirmed that Texas is one of the most diverse states in the nation. Anglos—*i.e.*, non-Latino White Texans—are now less than 40 percent of the State's population, and Latinos soon will be the State's largest population group. Between 2010 and 2020, Texas grew by nearly 4 million residents, and the minority population represents 95% of that growth.

2. Soon after the release of 2020 Census data, the Texas Legislature enacted redistricting plans for the Texas Congressional delegation and the Texas House through an extraordinarily rapid and opaque legislative process.

3. The Legislature refused to recognize the State's growing minority electorate. Although the Texas Congressional delegation expanded from 36 to 38 seats, Texas designed the two new seats to have Anglo voting majorities. Texas also intentionally eliminated a Latino electoral opportunity in Congressional District 23, a West Texas district where courts had identified Voting Rights Act violations during the previous two redistricting cycles. It failed to

#### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 2 of 45

draw a seat encompassing the growing Latino electorate in Harris County. And it surgically excised minority communities from the core of the Dallas-Fort Worth Metroplex (DFW) by attaching them to heavily Anglo rural counties, some more than a hundred miles away, placing them in a congressional district where they would lack equal electoral opportunity.

4. Texas also eliminated Latino electoral opportunities in the State House plan through manipulation or outright elimination of districts where Latino communities previously had elected their preferred candidates. In the San Antonio region and in South Texas, Texas replaced Latinos in House Districts 118 and 31 with high-turnout Anglo voters, eliminating minority electoral opportunities. And in El Paso and West Texas, the State eliminated a Latino opportunity district entirely—reducing the number of districts in which Latinos make up a citizen voting-age population majority from six to five—by overpopulating and packing majority-Latino districts and under-populating nearby majority-Anglo districts.

5. This is not the first time Texas has acted to minimize the voting rights of its minority citizens. Decade after decade, Fexas has enacted redistricting plans that violate the Voting Rights Act.

6. In enacting its 2021 Congressional and House plans, the State has again diluted the voting strength of minority Texans and continued its refusal to comply with the Voting Rights Act, absent intervention by the Attorney General or the federal courts.

7. The Attorney General files this action pursuant to Sections 2 and 12(d) of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, as amended, 52 U.S.C. §§ 10301 and 10308(d), to enforce voting rights guaranteed by the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

8. Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act prohibits enforcement of any voting qualification, prerequisite to voting, standard, practice, or procedure that either has a purpose of

denying or abridging the right to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group or results in the denial or abridgment of the right to vote on account of race, color, or language minority status. The districting decisions described in this complaint violate Section 2.

#### JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. This Court has original jurisdiction of this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 2201(a) and 52 U.S.C. § 10308(f).

10. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. \$ 124(d)(3) and 1391(b).

#### PARTIES

11. The Voting Rights Act authorizes the Attorney General to file a civil action on behalf of the United States of America seeking injunctive, preventive, and permanent relief for violations of Section 2 of the Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10308(d).

12. Defendant the State of Texas is one of the states of the United States of America.

13. Defendant John Scott is the Texas Secretary of State. The Texas Secretary of State is the State's chief election officer. The Office of the Texas Secretary of State is responsible for maintaining uniform application, operation, and interpretation of all state election laws. Secretary Scott's relevant duties include, but are not limited to, preparing detailed and comprehensive written directives and instructions and distributing these materials to the appropriate state and local authorities having duties in the administration of state election laws. Secretary Scott also is empowered to order a person performing official functions in the administration of any part of the electoral processes to correct any conduct that impedes the free exercise of a citizen's voting rights. Secretary Scott is sued in his official capacity.

#### ALLEGATIONS

#### The State of Texas

14. According to the 2020 Census, Texas has a total population of 29,145,505, with a Hispanic/Latino population of 11,441,717 (39.3%), a non-Hispanic Black/African American population of 3,629,872 (12.4%), and a non-Hispanic Asian American population of 1,717,386 (5.9%).

15. According to the 2020 Census, Texas has a voting-age population (VAP) of 21,866,700, with a Hispanic/Latino VAP of 7,907,319 (36.2%), a non-Hispanic Black/African American VAP of 2,661,244 (12.2%), and a non-Hispanic Asian American VAP of 1,289,444 (5.9%).

16. The 2015-2019 American Community Survey (ACS) estimated that the citizen voting age population (CVAP) of Texas was 18,181,330, with a Hispanic/Latino CVAP of 5,429,160 (29.9%), a non-Hispanic Black/African American CVAP of 2,383,950 (13.1%), and a non-Hispanic Asian American CVAP of 674,830 (3.7%).

17. Applying 2015-2019 ACS localized adult citizenship rates to 2020 Census data provides a more contemporaneous CVAP estimate of 19,053,145, with a Hispanic/Latino CVAP of 5,758,435 (30.2%), a non-Hispanic Black/African American CVAP of 2,543,628 (13.4%), and a non-Hispanic Asian American CVAP of 845,903 (4.4%). Although Texas has used a different methodology to estimate CVAP, its method creates a substantial time lag in dynamic statistics, counts "some people who live outside the district . . . in the district estimates," and excludes "some people who live in the district . . . in the district estimates." Tex. Legis. Council, *Estimating Citizen Voting Age Population Data (CVAP)* 1 (2013).

18. Between 2010 and 2020, the population of Texas increased by 3,999,944, according to U.S. Census data. The Hispanic/Latino population increased by 1,980,796, accounting for 49.5% of overall growth; the non-Hispanic Black/African American population increased by 654,133, accounting for 16.4% of overall growth; and the non-Hispanic Asian American population increased by 689,430, accounting for 17.2% of overall growth. By contrast, the non-Hispanic White population increased by 187,252, accounting for only 4.7% of overall growth.

#### **Redistricting in Texas**

19. In every redistricting cycle since 1970, courts have found that one or more of Texas's statewide redistricting plans violated the United States Constitution or the Voting Rights Act.<sup>1</sup> Moreover, after each decennial census during the period when Texas was required to obtain preclearance of redistricting plans under Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10304, the State enacted redistricting plans for the Texas House that violated Section 5. Following the 1980 Census and 1990 Census, Texas also submitted plans for the Texas Senate or the Texas Congressional delegation that violated Section 5. And during the 38 years that Texas was covered by Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, the Attorney General issued another 50 objection letters regarding local districting or redistricting plans.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Texas v. United States, 887 F. Supp. 2d 133 (D.D.C. 2012) (three-judge court), vacated, 570 U.S. 928 (2013); LULAC v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399 (2006); Balderas v. Texas, No. 6:01-cv-158, 2001 WL 36403750 (E.D. Tex. Nov. 14, 2001) (three-judge court) (per curiam); Bush v. Vera, 517 U.S. 952 (1996); Terrazas v. Slagle, 789 F. Supp. 828 (W.D. Tex. 1991) (three-judge court), aff'd sub nom. Richards v. Terrazas, 505 U.S. 1214 (1992); Upham v. Seamon, 456 U.S. 37 (1982); Terrazas v. Clements, 537 F. Supp. 514 (N.D. Tex. 1982) (three-judge court) (per curiam); McDaniel v. Sanchez, 452 U.S. 130 (1981); White v. Regester, 412 U.S. 755 (1973); White v. Weiser, 412 U.S. 783 (1973).

#### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 6 of 45

20. The State of Texas's lengthy history of discrimination in redistricting has continued unabated into the twenty-first century, as the Supreme Court recognized when holding that the State's 2003 Congressional redistricting plan "undermined the progress of a racial group that has been subject to significant voting-related discrimination." *LULAC v. Perry*, 548 U.S. 399, 438-40 (2006); *see also Bush v. Vera*, 517 U.S. 952, 981-82 (1996) (plurality opinion); *White v. Regester*, 412 U.S. 755, 767-70 (1973).

21. During the last redistricting cycle, a three-judge court in Washington, D.C. found that Texas failed to prove that its 2011 Congressional and House plans would not effect a retrogression in the position of racial minorities with respect to their effective exercise of the electoral franchise and failed to prove that its 2011 Congressional and Senate plans were not enacted with discriminatory intent, although this decision was vacated after the Supreme Court's decision in *Shelby County v. Holder*, 570 U.S. 529 (2013). *See Texas v. United States*, 887 F. Supp. 2d 133, 154 (D.D.C. 2012) (three-judge court), *vacated*, 570 U.S. 928 (2013). A second three-judge court in San Antonio then affirmatively found that the 2011 Congressional and House plans had been enacted with discriminatory intent and that the 2013 House plan contained an unconstitutional racial gerrymander. *See Abbott v. Perez*, 138 S. Ct. 2305, 2334-35 (2018) (2013 House); *Perez v. Abbott*, 250 F. Supp. 3d 123 (W.D. Tex. 2017) (three-judge court) (2011 House); *see also Abbott*, 138 S. Ct. at 2317 (declining to address 2011 plans).

#### 2021 Redistricting in Texas

22. On September 7, 2021, Texas Governor Greg Abbott announced a special legislative session to begin on September 20, for the purpose of drawing statewide redistricting plans.

#### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 7 of 45

23. Once the special session began, redistricting plans and amendments moved at a rapid pace with little transparency and limited opportunities for witness testimony.

24. Minority legislators frequently decried the compressed timeline, changes made without traditional deference to local delegations, the inability to invite expert testimony, the minimal opportunities for public input, and an overall disregard for massive minority population growth in Texas over the last decade.

25. Governor Abbott signed both Senate Bill 6, the 2021 Congressional Plan, and House Bill 1, the 2021 House Plan, on October 25, 2021.

#### **Congressional Redistricting Process**

26. The Congressional redistricting process was truncated because of the special session. Only three weeks passed between the unveiling of the initial proposal and the final passage of the conference committee map.

27. Prior to the start of the special session and the release of the Census data used for redistricting, the House Redistricting Committee, chaired by Representative Todd Hunter, and the Senate Redistricting Committee, chaired by Senator Joan Huffman, each held five hearings to gather public testimony, including permitting the submission of written comments and alternative redistricting plans through an online portal.

28. On September 27, 2021, Senator Huffman released the initial statewide Congressional proposal.

29. The initial proposal had been drawn based in part on direction from Republican members of the Texas Congressional delegation. As a result, while most Anglo members of the Texas delegation had an opportunity to provide input on their districts, only one Latino member

#### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 8 of 45

of the delegation and no Black members of the delegation had an opportunity to provide input concerning their districts.

30. Upon information and belief, individuals outside of the Texas legislature drew the initial proposal, and the outside software used to draw this initial plan did not include the home addresses of incumbent members. This resulted in the pairing of two of the four Black Members of Congress from Texas in the initial statewide proposal.

31. The Senate Special Committee on Redistricting held only two public hearings on the Congressional plan, on September 30 and October 4, 2021. The full Senate passed the Congressional plan on October 8, 2021. The House received the bill the very same day.

32. Senator Huffman stated that the redistricting plans complied with the Voting Rights Act, but she declined to explain the substantive basis for that conclusion.

33. Although House Redistricting Chair Hunter initially told members of the House Redistricting Committee that the Texas House would generate its own statewide Congressional plan, the Redistricting Committee instead took up the plan already passed by the Senate. The Texas House officially took up the map passed by the Texas Senate on the same day as floor consideration of the Texas House redistricting plan, limiting the opportunity for legislators to analyze the Congressional plan and generate proposed amendments.

34. On October 13, 2021, the House Redistricting Committee held its only public hearing on the Congressional plan. The public was provided with only 24 hours' notice of the hearing, and witnesses were given just 12 hours to register to testify virtually. The House Redistricting Committee voted the Congressional plan out of committee without adopting any amendments.

#### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 9 of 45

35. The full Texas House considered the Congressional plan on October 16, 2021. Although the House adopted several amendments, it rejected any proposals that would have provided for additional minority electoral opportunity. The Texas House passed the amended Congressional plan early in the morning on October 17, 2021.

36. The Senate did not concur with the House amendments, and the House and Senate appointed a conference committee immediately. The conference committee reported out the final Congressional plan later that day, on October 17, 2021.

The full House and Senate passed the conference committee's plan the next day, 37. on October 18, 2021.

Governor Abbott signed the final Congressional plan into law on October 25, 38. .o. -RACIDOCI 2021.

## **Texas Congressional District 23 (West Texas)**

39. Using many of the same techniques applied in adopting the redistricting plans in 2011 and 2003, Texas intentionally reconfigured the 2021 version of District 23 to eliminate a Latino electoral opportunity. District 23 in both the 2011 and 2003 Congressional plans violated the Voting Rights Act. By eliminating a Latino electoral opportunity for the third time in three decades, Texas has demonstrated a recalcitrant refusal to recognize the rights of Latino voters in this region.

40. In 2006, the Supreme Court addressed a Section 2 challenge to the 2003 configuration of District 23. In doing so, the Court stated that the State's actions bore "the mark of intentional discrimination that could give rise to an equal protection violation." LULAC v. Perry, 548 U.S. at 440.

41. In 2012, a three-judge Court in Washington, D.C. found that although the version of District 23 created in 2006 as a remedy after *LULAC v. Perry* had provided Latino voters with the ability to elect their preferred candidates, the 2011 Congressional plan "took that ability away." *Texas*, 887 F. Supp. 2d at 154. A three-judge court in Texas subsequently found that the 2011 Congressional plan's "manipulation of Latino voter turnout and cohesion in [District] 23 denied Latino voters equal opportunity and had the intent and effect of diluting Latino voter opportunity." *Perez*, 253 F. Supp. 3d at 908.

42. Under the current Congressional plan, adopted in 2013, District 23 encompasses 26 whole counties in West Texas and portions of La Salle, Bexar, and El Paso Counties. Figure 1 depicts current District 23.



Figure 1: Current Congressional District 23 (Adopted 2013)

43. This current configuration of District 23 is based on an interim remedy for a "not insubstantial" retrogression claim under Section 5 that was then pending before the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia. *Perez v. Perry*, 891 F. Supp. 2d 808, 826-27 (W.D. Tex.

2012) (three-judge court).

44. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that District 23 in the 2013 Congressional Plan has a Latino CVAP concentration of 62.1% (63.2% by Texas's estimate). In 2020, Spanish Surname Voter Registration (SSVR) in the district was 54.1%, and Spanish Surname Turnout (SSTO) was 47.8%.<sup>2</sup>

45. Under the current configuration of District 23, elections in this district have been close, with the winner receiving either a plurality or narrow majority of the vote.

46. A cohesive majority of Latino voters in current District 23 have preferred Latino Democrats in most primary and general elections. Nonetheless, voters in District 23 last elected a Latino Democrat in 2012. In the 2020 general election, voters in District 23 elected Tony Gonzales, a Latino Republican, with 50.6% of the vote. Latino voters in District 23 offered cohesive support to Gonzales' opponent, Democrat Gina Ortiz Jones (API).

47. In the enacted 2021 Congressional plan, District 23 includes the same 26 whole counties found in the current configuration, as well as all of La Salle County, a sparsely populated county between Laredo and San Antonio. However, the enacted 2021 version of District 23 contains very different portions of Bexar County and El Paso County than the 2013 version. It is from these counties that the new district draws most of its population. Figure 2 depicts enacted District 23.

<sup>2</sup> SSVR denotes the percentage of registered voters with a last name on the State's Spanish surname list, in November 2020 unless otherwise noted. Unless otherwise noted, SSTO denotes the percentage of voters who cast a ballot in the November 2020 general election whose last name appears on the State's Spanish surname list.



Figure 2: Enacted Congressional District 23 (Adopted 2021)

48. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that the Latino CVAP concentration in enacted 2021 District 23 is 56.3%, 5.8 percentage points lower than the Latino CVAP in current District 23. Texas's estimate indicates that enacted 2021 District 23 has a Latino CVAP concentration of 57.8%, a drop of 5.4 percentage points from the estimate for current District 23. In 2020, SSVR in enacted 2021 District 23 was 49.2%, a decrease of 4.9 percentage points from the current configuration. And SSTO was 42.9%, again a decrease of 4.9 percentage points from the current configuration. Table 1 sets out these changes in full.

<b>T</b> 11 4	<b>C</b> · ·	D' / ' / 00	<b>·</b>
I able 1:	Congressional	District 2.3	Comparison
I WALL IT	Congi essionai		Comparison

Latino	Latino CVAP		SSVR		ТО
2013 Plan	2021 Plan	2013 Plan	2021 Plan	2013 Plan	2021 Plan
62.1	56.3	54.1	49.2	47.8	42.9

49. Latino voters in District 23 are cohesive in the most relevant elections, including elections for District 23.

#### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 13 of 45

50. In enacted 2021 District 23, bloc voting by Anglo voters will enable them to usually defeat Latino voters' preferred candidates.

51. As in 2011, the enacted Congressional plan deliberately makes District 23 more Anglo and more Republican, thereby eliminating the opportunity for minority voters to elect their preferred candidates. After Governor Abbott signed the enacted Congressional plan into law, Adam Kincaid, the executive director of the National Republican Redistricting Trust, told the *New York Times* that the "competitive Republican seats are off the board."

52. Also as in 2011, Texas made District 23 less of an electoral opportunity for minority-preferred candidates by consciously replacing many of the district's active Latino voters with low-turnout Latino citizens, in an effort to strengthen the voting power of Anglo citizens while preserving the superficial appearance of Latino control. Although the enacted 2021 Congressional plan reduces District 23's Latino CVAP by 9.3%, the plan reduces District 23's SSTO by 10.3%. The average SSTO for the precincts that Texas removed from District 23 is 59.9%, while the average SSTO for the precincts that the State added to the district is 33.8%.

53. And as in 2011, Texas again relied on split precincts when crafting the new 2021 District 23. The State nearly quadrupled the number of split precincts in the district, from four in the 2013 Congressional plan to 15 in the 2021 Congressional plan. More importantly, the borders of District 23 split precincts in a manner that removed approximately half of Latino CVAP from District 23 but removed only around one-third of Anglo CVAP from District 23. While accurate racial data is available below the precinct level, accurate political data is not, suggesting that many precinct splits have a racial basis.

54. During the redistricting process, Latino legislators advocated in both the Texas House and the Texas Senate for District 23 to remain a Latino opportunity district. Legislators

#### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 14 of 45

specifically warned that failure to do so would raise an inference of intentional discrimination, in light of the lengthy history of Voting Rights Act litigation in this region. One legislator even pointed out to his colleagues that the proposed configuration of District 23 combined areas with low Latino participation rates and areas with high Anglo turnout. The Texas Legislature rejected the relevant amendments.

55. Rather than intentionally eliminating a Latino opportunity district, lawmakers could have drawn District 23 as an effective Latino district. The Latino population in West Texas is sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in an additional single-member district that would provide Latino voters with an electoral opportunity.

# Texas Congressional Districts in the Dallas-Fort Worth Metroplex

56. The enacted Congressional plan intentionally discriminates against minority voters in DFW by excising rapidly changing communities from DFW-based districts and attaching them instead through a narrow strip to several heavily Anglo counties. By cracking minority communities and submerging urban minority voters among rural Anglos, the Congressional map effectively turns back a decade of rapid Latino population growth and preserves Anglo control of most remaining districts, particularly District 24.

57. Between the 2010 Census and the 2020 Census, Dallas County's population increased by over 245,000 residents. The Latino population increased by 151,895, making up over 60% of that growth, such that Latinos now comprise roughly 41% of Dallas County's population and 37% of County VAP. The Black population of Dallas County increased by 53,226, consistent with the overall growth rate, such that African Americans continue to comprise 22% of Dallas County's population and VAP. At the same time, the Anglo population of Dallas County decreased by 59,706. As a result, the Anglo population share of Dallas County decreased from 33% to 28%, and Anglo VAP share decreased from 38% to 32%.

58. Between the 2010 Census and the 2020 Census, Tarrant County's population increased by over 300,000 residents. The Latino population increased by 137,930, making up 46% of that growth, such that Latinos now comprise 29% of Tarrant County's population and 26% of County VAP. The Black population of Tarrant County increased by 105,101, making up 35% of that growth, such that African Americans now comprise 18% of Tarrant County's population and 17% of County VAP. At the same time, the Anglo population of Tarrant County decreased from 52% to 43%, and Anglo VAP share decreased from 57% to 47%.

59. In the current (2013) Congressional plan, nine districts are located at least partially in Dallas or Tarrant Counties: Districts 5, 6, 12, 24, 25, 26, 30, 32, and 33. No district has a Black or Latino eligible voter majority. However, Black eligible voters make up a nearmajority in District 30, located in south Dallas County, and Latino eligible voters make up a near-majority in District 33, which extends across Dallas and Tarrant Counties. Both Districts 30 and 33 in the 2013 Congressional plan provide minority voters with electoral opportunities. Districts 5, 6, 12, 24, 25, 26, and 32 are primarily Anglo. Figure 3 depicts the current Congressional Districts in DFW.


Figure 3: DFW Current Congressional Plan (Adopted 2013)

60. A three-judge court in Texas established the layout of current District 33 to address intentional discrimination in the 2011 Congressional plan. Following a full trial, the Court found that the State had "acted at least in part with a racially discriminatory motive in enact[ing] [the 2011] Congressional plan" with regard to the districts in DFW in particular." *Perez*, 253 F. Supp. 3d at 962. This finding rested in part on the deliberate assignment of dense Latino neighborhoods to a "lightning bolt" extension into Tarrant County from a heavily Anglo district based in Denton County, a district where Latino voters would not have the opportunity to elect their preferred candidates. *Id.* at 934-38, 947, 953-55.

61. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that District 30 in the 2013 Congressional plan has a Black CVAP of 49.3% (51.9% by Texas's estimate). Latino CVAP in District 30 is also 24.4% (23.0% by Texas's estimate). Voters in District 30 consistently have elected Representative Eddie Bernice Johnson (B) since 1992.

62. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that District 33 in the 2013 Congressional plan has a Latino CVAP of 47.8% (48.0% by Texas's estimate). Black

CVAP in District 33 is also 24.2% (23.8% by Texas's estimate). In 2020, SSVR in this district was 41.5%, and SSTO was 38.9%. District 33 voters have elected Marc Veasey (B) across the last decade.

63. Districts 5, 6, 12, 24, 25, 26, and 32—the Anglo-controlled districts—in the 2013 Congressional plan have Latino CVAP concentrations of 17.6%, 18.3%, 16.8%, 16.2%, 15.5%, 14.5%, and 16.3%, respectively (15.8%, 16.8%, 16.0%, 15.7%, 14.8%, 13.3% and 15.4% by Texas's estimate). Black CVAP concentrations in those districts are 16.4%, 22.0%, 10.3%, 13.6%, 7.2%, 9.6%, and 14.2%, respectively (16.5%, 20.9%, 8.9%, 12.8%, 7.2%, 8.5%, and 13.5% by Texas's estimate). In 2020, voters in these districts elected Representatives Lance Gooden (A), J.K. "Jake" Ellzey (A), Kay Granger (A), Beth Van Duyne (A), Roger Williams (A), Michael Burgess (A), and Colin Allred (B).

64. District 24, a suburban district stradeling Dallas, Denton, and Tarrant Counties, saw a particularly close election in 2020 between an Anglo candidate, Beth Van Duyne, and a Black-Latina candidate, Candace Valenzuela. Though the district had reliably elected Anglo candidates over the last decade, the 2020 race was hotly contested and deemed a toss-up in the days leading up to the election. Ultimately, Van Duyne defeated Valenzuela but only by a razorthin margin—less than two percentage points.

65. The enacted 2021 Congressional plan reconfigures the districts based in DFW, using configurations similar to the "lightning bolt" found to be intentionally discriminatory in the 2011 Congressional plan. Figure 2 depicts the enacted 2021 Congressional plan for DFW. (The unnumbered orange district is District 6.)



Figure 4: DFW Enacted Congressional Plan (Adopted 2021)

66. In the enacted 2021 Congressional Plan, Districts 30 and 33—the two minority opportunity districts—have Black CVAP concentrations of 46.7% and 26.8%, respectively (49.0% and 27.1% by Texas's estimate). These districts also have Latino CVAP concentrations of 21.9% and 41.2%, respectively (20.4% and 41.7% by Texas's estimate).

67. In the enacted 2021 Congressional Plan, Districts 5, 6, 12, 24, 25, 26, and 32—the Anglo-controlled districts—have Latino CVAP concentrations of 18.4%, 21.9%, 17.6%, 12.5%, 15.4%, 13.4%, and 21.0%, respectively (16.5%, 20.8%, 16.5%, 11.7%, 14.3%, 12.5%, and 20.2%, by Texas's estimate). Black CVAP concentrations in those districts are 14.7%, 15.3%, 11.7%, 7.0%, 11.7%, 9.4%, and 22.3%, respectively (14.1%, 14.6%, 10.5%, 6.0%, 11.1%, 8.3%, and 22.5%, by Texas's estimate). Table 2 sets out the demographic changes in DFW Congressional districts in full.

District	Latino CVAP		Black CVAP	
District	2013 Plan	2021 Plan	2013 Plan	2021 Plan
5	17.6	18.4	16.4	14.7
6	16.8	20.8	20.9	14.6
12	16.0	16.5	8.9	10.5
24	15.7	11.7	12.8	6.0
25	14.8	14.3	7.2	11.1
26	14.5	13.4	9.6	9.4
30	23.0	20.4	51.9	49.0
32	15.4	20.2	13.5	22.5
33	48.0	41.7	23.8	27.1

	Table 2: DFW	<b>Congressional District</b>	Comparison
--	--------------	-------------------------------	------------

68. Among numerous changes in DFW, the enacted 2021 Congressional plan reduces the presence of District 24 in northwest Dallas County, moving the district out of most of the City of Irving. This is notable because the incumbent, Beth Van Duyne, is a former Mayor of Irving. However, Irving changed dramatically between the 2010 Census and the 2020 Census, shifting from majority Anglo in 2010 to barely one-fifth Anglo in 2020. Thus, removing most of Irving removed a substantial minority community from District 24, a community that had threatened the electoral prospects of the Anglo incumbent.

69. Only 19 precincts in current District 24, under the 2013 Congressional Plan, have a Latino CVAP concentration over 40%. The enacted 2021 Congressional plan removes all but two of these precincts from District 24. As a result, the district's Latino CVAP decreased by approximately 23%. Moreover, the two precincts left in District 24 in the 2021 Congressional plan with substantial Latino CVAP have near-zero Latino electoral participation.

70. For District 24 to lose most of Irving, neighboring District 33 had to move north. However, simply moving the border of District 33 north would have left the district with substantial excess population. Therefore, the enacted 2021 Congressional plan inserts an extension of District 6 into the middle of the Dallas portion of District 33 to take in that excess population.

71. The District 6 appendage resembles a seahorse in Dallas County, and it incorporates several diverse neighborhoods. Much of the seahorse configuration overlaps with current House District 105, which elected Anglos in 2012, 2014, and 2016, before electing Representative Thresa "Terry" Meza (L) in 2018 and 2020. This shift is particularly notable, given that a three-judge court in Texas found that House District 105 had originally been drawn based on race in 2011 to dilute Latino voting strength by maximizing the Anglo population of the district. *See Perez*, 250 F. Supp. 3d at 169-71. The remainder of District 6 in the enacted 2021 Congressional plan includes seven rural majority-Anglo counties outside of Dallas County and Tarrant County. Nonetheless, due in part to the addition of this appendage, the enacted 2021 Congressional plan increases the Latino CVAP share of District 6 by roughly 20%.

72. The enacted 2021 Congressional plan maintains Districts 30 and 33 as minority opportunity districts but deliberately prevents minority voters from impacting elections in District 24.

73. Latino voters in DFW, including Latino voters in enacted 2021 Congressional District 24, are cohesive in the most relevant elections.

74. Black voters in DFW, including Black voters in enacted 2021 Congressional District 24, are cohesive in the most relevant elections.

75. In enacted 2021 Congressional District 24, bloc voting by Anglo voters will enable them usually to defeat Latino and Black voters' preferred candidates.

## **Texas Congressional Districts in Harris County**

76. The enacted 2021 Congressional plan situates one of the two new Texas Congressional districts in Harris County, in and around Houston, due to massive population

## Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 21 of 45

growth in the area. Most of that population growth occurred within the Latino community, but Texas crafted the new 38th Congressional district to give Harris County's shrinking Anglo population control of yet another Congressional seat. Creating an additional Anglo seat dilutes Latino voting strength in Harris County, particularly because the population growth occurred primarily in the Latino community.

77. Between the 2010 Census and the 2020 Census, Harris County's population increased by nearly 640,000. The Latino population increased by 363,169, making up the majority of that growth, such that Latinos now comprise 43% of Harris County's population and 40% of County VAP. At the same time, the Anglo population of Harris County decreased by 40,053. As a result, Anglo population share decreased from 33% to 28%, and Anglo VAP share decreased from 37% to 31%.

78. In the current 2013 Congressional plan, nine districts are located at least partially in Harris County: Districts 2, 7, 8, 9, 10, 18, 22, 29, and 36. District 29, in eastern greater Houston, is the only one in which a majority of eligible voters are Latino, and this district provides Latino voters with an opportunity to elect their preferred representatives. District 9, in southwestern greater Houston, and District 18, in central Houston and the surrounding areas, provide Black voters with electoral opportunities. Districts 2, 7, 8, 10, 22, and 36 are primarily Anglo. Figure 5 depicts the current congressional districts in Harris County. (The unnumbered green district is District 10, and the unnumbered red district is District 36.)



## Figure 5: Current Harris County Congressional Districts (Adopted 2013)

79. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that District 29 in the 2013 Congressional plan 2013 has a Latino VAP majority of 64.4% (65.1% by Texas's estimate) and provides Latino voters with electoral opportunity. In 2020, SSVR in this district was 58.8%, and SSTO was 55.8%. District 29 voters elected Representative Sylvia Garcia (L) by wide margins over her general election opponents in 2018 and 2020. Voters in this district had elected Representative Gene Green (A) for over two decades, until his decision not to run for reelection in 2018.

80. Districts 9 and 18—the two Black opportunity districts—in the 2013 Congressional plan have Latino CVAP concentrations of 27% and 28.3%, respectively (25.8% and 27.6% by Texas's estimate). 2020 SSVR in these districts was 19.5% and 21.2%, and 2020 SSTO was 18.1% and 19.6%, respectively. Districts 9 and 18 also have Black CVAP concentrations of 45.3% and 42.9%, respectively (46.6% and 44.0% by Texas's estimate).

## Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 23 of 45

Voters in District 18 have elected Representative Sheila Jackson Lee (B) for over 25 years, and voters in District 9 have elected Representative Al Green (B) for the past 16 years.

81. Districts 2, 7, 8, 10, 22, and 36—the Anglo-controlled districts—in the 2013 Congressional plan have Latino CVAP concentrations of 24%, 22.6%, 16.3%, 21.0%, 21.4%, and 19.6%, respectively (22.2%, 21.2%, 14.3%, 19.2%, 21.2%, and 18.1%, by Texas's estimate). In 2020, SSVR in these districts was 17.4%, 15.5%, 10.8%, 14.5%, 16.2%, and 13.8%, and SSTO was 15.7%, 13.9%, 9.1%, 13.0%, 14.4%, and 11.8%, respectively. In 2020, voters in these districts elected Representatives Dan Crenshaw (A), Lizzie Fletcher (A), Kevin Brady (A), Michael McCaul (A), Troy Nehls (A), and Brian Babin (A).

82. The enacted 2021 Congressional plan creates a new District 38 in outlying northern and western Harris County, areas in which a majority of eligible voters are Anglo, while maintaining Anglo eligible voter majorities in Districts 2 and 8 and preserving substantial Anglo pluralities in Districts 7, 22, and 36. Figure 6 depicts the enacted 2021 Congressional District plan for Harris County. (The unnumbered orange district is District 36.)



### Figure 6: Enacted Harris County Congressional Districts (Adopted 2021)

83. The enacted 2021 Congressional plan prevents the emergence of a second Latino opportunity district by establishing roughly 18% to 21% Latino CVAP concentrations in each Anglo-controlled district, often by combining portions of Harris County with other more heavily Anglo counties. The enacted Congressional plan also maintains roughly 25% to 28% Latino CVAP concentrations in the two Black opportunity districts, while also packing District 29 by adding Latino population to a district that already allowed Latino voters to elect their preferred candidates to Congress.

84. In the enacted 2021 Congressional plan, 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that the new Congressional district, District 38, has a Latino CVAP concentration of 18.9% (17.7% by Texas's estimate). 2020 SSVR and SSTO in the district were 13.2% and 12.1%, respectively.

85. In the enacted 2021 Congressional plan, Districts 2, 7, 8, 22, and 36—the existing Anglo-controlled districts—have Latino CVAP concentrations of 21.7%, 20.8%, 22.4%, 23.1%,

and 22.0%, respectively (19.2%, 19.8, 20.7%, 23.2%, and 20.7% by Texas's estimate). In 2020, SSVR in these districts was 14.8%, 14.3%, 16.0%, 17.1%, and 16.2%, and SSTO was 13.3%, 13.1%, 14.1%, 14.5%, and 14.2%, respectively. District 10 in the enacted plan no longer enters Harris County.

86. In the enacted 2021 Congressional Plan, Districts 9 and 18—the two Black opportunity districts—have Latino CVAP concentrations of 25.8% and 28.5% respectively (24.4% and 27.9% by Texas's estimate). 2020 SSVR in these districts was 19.0% and 21.5%, and 2020 SSTO was 17.1% and 19.9%, respectively. Districts 9 and 18 also have Black CVAP concentrations of 45.4% and 40.3%, respectively (46.8% and 40.9% by Texas's estimate).

87. In the enacted 2021 Congressional Plan, District 29 has a Latino CVAP concentration of 62.0% (62.2% by Texas's estimate). 2020 SSVR in this district was 56.2%, and 2020 SSTO was 53.1%. Table 3 sets out the Latino demographic changes in Harris County Congressional districts.

District	Latino	CVAP	SSVR		
District	2013 Plan	2021 Plan	2013 Plan	2021 Plan	
2	22.2	19.2	17.4	14.8	
7	21.2	19.8	15.5	14.3	
8	14.3	20.7	10.8	16.0	
9	25.8	24.4	19.5	19.0	
10	21.0	n/a	14.5	n/a	
18	27.6	27.9	21.2	21.5	
22	21.4	23.1	16.2	17.1	
29	65.1	62.2	58.8	56.2	
36	19.6	22.0	13.8	16.2	
38		17.7		13.2	

Table 3: Harris County Congressional District Comparison

88. Enacted District 38 does not provide an opportunity for Latino voters to elect representatives of their choice.

### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 26 of 45

89. The creation of another Latino electoral opportunity Congressional district in Harris County was discussed during the legislative redistricting process. Indeed, minority legislators introduced alternative plans with the stated goal of creating a new Latino opportunity district in Harris County, without undermining minority electoral opportunities elsewhere in the Houston area. The Texas House and the Texas Senate declined to adopt these amendments.

90. Senator Huffman, the Chair of the Senate Special Committee on Redistricting, publicly stated that, after discussion with the Office of the Texas Attorney General, "we saw no strong basis in evidence that a new minority opportunity district should be drawn in the new maps." However, she did not provide the relevant analysis to other members of the Senate.

91. The Latino community in Harris County is sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in a second single-member district that would provide Latino voters with an electoral opportunity, without undermining existing opportunity districts. Specifically, a second Latino opportunity district can be crafted in southeastern Harris County, composed of parts of current Districts *2*, 29, and 36.

92. In the past decade, multiple courts have found that voting is racially polarized in Harris County. *See, e.g. Rodriguez v. Harris Cnty.*, 964 F. Supp. 2d 686, 754-75 (S.D. Tex. 2013).

93. Latino voters in Harris County, including Latino voters in enacted District 38, are cohesive in the most relevant elections.

94. In enacted 2021 District 38, bloc voting by Anglo voters will enable them usually to defeat Latino voters' preferred candidates.

### **2021 Texas House Redistricting Process**

95. Following Texas House tradition, House Redistricting Committee Chair Hunter solicited proposed maps from members, beginning on September 9, 2021. This included both requests for individual proposed districts and requests for "consent plans," on which all members of a county delegation had agreed, to be dropped into a statewide proposal. By tradition, the Texas House typically defers to consent redistricting plans submitted by a complete county delegation.

96. Chair Hunter unveiled a statewide proposed House plan on September 30, 2021.

97. The House Redistricting Committee held its sole hearing on the House plan on October 4, 2021. When laying out his proposal, Chair Hunter repeatedly asserted that the Committee should rely on minority VAP, rather than CVAP, which he claimed "leave[s] out important information." This ignored decades of Voting Rights Act precedent.

98. During the October 4 hearing, Chair Hunter also acknowledged that he had hired Adam Foltz, a Wisconsin-based redistricting operative, to draw maps and placed him on the payroll of the nonpartisan Texas Legislative Council, rather than on the House Redistricting Committee. This effectively hid Foltz's role from other members of the Redistricting Committee until the *Texas Tribune* published a story on September 29.

99. The House Redistricting Committee adopted only two substantial changes to the statewide House proposal, neither of which improved electoral opportunities for minority voters.

100. Consideration of the House redistricting plan on the Texas House floor began on October 12 and concluded with a final vote after 3 a.m. on October 13. Overall, less than two weeks passed between introduction of the statewide proposal and the final substantive consideration.

### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 28 of 45

101. During floor debate, the House rejected numerous amendments proposed by minority members to increase minority voters' electoral opportunities and influence. On the other hand, floor amendments substantially altered several majority-minority districts, against the wishes of most members of the local delegations.

102. Of particular note, Representative Jacey Jetton of Fort Bend County carried an amendment to districts in Bexar County, although during debate he was unable to provide substantive details regarding the proposal. The Bexar County delegation had agreed to a consent redistricting plan for Bexar County, and the Jetton Amendment substantially altered that plan. The House approved the Amendment over the objection of most of the Bexar County delegation and established the final configuration of District 118.

103. The Texas Senate passed the Texas House plan without amendment, and the Texas Legislature sent House Bill 1, the 2021 House Plan, to Governor Abbott on October 18, 2021. Governor Abbott signed House Bill 1 into law on October 25, 2021.

## **Texas House District 118 (Bexar County)**

104. The enacted House plan eliminates Latino voters' opportunity to elect representatives of their choice in District 118, a Bexar County district in and around the City of San Antonio. The enacted plan substantially reduces Latino population share to the point that the district no longer has a majority 2020 SSVR or SSTO, thereby enabling Anglo voters to defeat Latino voters' preferred candidates, even in high turnout general elections.

105. In the current (2013) House plan, District 118 includes dense neighborhoods within Loop 410, southern San Antonio, outlying communities in southern Bexar County, and a small portion of eastern and northeastern Bexar County, including Randolph Air Force Base. Figure 7 depicts current House District 118.



Figure 7: Current House District 118 (Adopted 2013)

106. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that the 2013 version of District 118 has a Latino CVAP concentration of 68.1% (68.2% by Texas's estimate).In 2020, SSVR in District 118 was 59.5%, and SSTO was 55.7%.

107. District 118 consistently elected Latino Democrats in regular elections through the past decade. In the 2020 general election, voters in District 118 reelected Representative Leo Pacheco with 56.8% of the 58,558 votes cast. However, in August 2021, Representative Pacheco resigned to take a full-time college teaching position.

108. In low turnout special elections in 2016 and 2021, voters in District 118 elected a Latino Republican, John Lujan, who was not the Latino candidate of choice. In January 2016, Lujan won a special election with 52.4% of only 3,589 votes cast, and his same Democratic opponent defeated him in the 2016 general election. Lujan won again in a November 2021

## Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 30 of 45

special election, this time with 51.2% of the 11,569 votes cast, and he currently represents the district.

109. The House Redistricting Committee plan in 2021 left District 118 largely intact, reflecting the agreed-upon plan of the Bexar County delegation. However, Representative Jetton of Fort Bend County offered an amendment on the House floor that reconfigured District 118. Despite the objection of most members of the Bexar County delegation, the House adopted the Jetton Amendment, which established the final configuration of District 118.

110. In the enacted 2021 House plan, District 118 loses much of its territory inside Loop 410, including nearly all of the dense Latino neighborhoods north of SW Military Drive. To replace this lost population, the enacted plan adds large portions of southwest Bexar County and increases the portion of the district on the eastern and northeastern boundary of Bexar County, particularly around Randolph Air Force Base. Figure 8 depicts enacted House District 118.



Figure 8: Enacted House District 118 (Adopted 2021)

App.49

111. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that enacted 2021 District 118 has a Latino CVAP concentration of 57.5%, a reduction of 10.6 percentage points from the current plan. Texas's estimate indicates that District 118 in the enacted 2021 House plan has a Latino CVAP concentration of 56.4%, a reduction of 11.8 percentage points from the current plan. In 2020, SSVR in enacted 2021 District 118 was 47.6%, and SSTO was 43.9%. Thus, the enacted 2021 House plan reduces SSVR in District 118 by 11.9 percentage points and reduces SSTO in District 118 by 11.8 percentage points, eliminating the Latino voting majority. Table 4 sets out these changes in full.

Table 4: House District 118 Comparison

		~~~	ТО	
2013 Plan 2021 Pla	in 2013 Plan	2021 Plan	2013 Plan	2021 Plan
68.1 57.5	59.5	47.6	55.7	43.9

112. Enacted 2021 District 118 no longer provides an opportunity for Latino voters to elect representatives of their choice.

113. The elimination of a Latino electoral opportunity in the 2021 version of District 118 was easily avoidable. The House Redistricting Committee's statewide map preserved the Latino electoral opportunity in District 118, without undermining minority electoral opportunities elsewhere in Bexar County.

114. District 118 in the statewide plan passed by the Texas House Redistricting Committee (H2176) can serve as an illustrative district demonstrating that the Latino community in southern Bexar County is sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in an additional single-member district that would provide Latino voters with an electoral opportunity. 115. Latino voters in District 118 under both the current 2013 House plan and the enacted 2021 House plan are cohesive in the most relevant elections in the last decade.

116. In District 118 under the enacted 2021 House plan, bloc voting by Anglo voters will enable them usually to defeat Latino voters' preferred candidates.

# **Texas House District 31 (South Texas)**

117. The enacted 2021 House plan also eliminates Latino voters' opportunity to elect representatives of their choice in District 31, a South Texas district stretching from the Rio Grande to the San Antonio region. The enacted 2021 plan substantially reduces Latino population share and takes advantage of extreme Anglo bloc voting to overwhelm the working-class Latino electorate. Although Latino voters in District 31 reelected their preferred candidate by a comfortable margin in 2020, the incumbent switched parties shortly after Governor Abbott signed the House plan into law.

118. In the current 2013 House plan, District 31 encompasses ten sparsely populated South Texas counties. Figure 9 depicts current House District 31.



Figure 9: Current House District 31 (Adopted 2013)

119. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that District 31 in the 2013 House plan has a Latino CVAP concentration of 75.4% (77.2% by Texas's estimate). In 2020, SSVR in District 31 was 74.1%, and SSTO was 68.7%.

120. Representative Ryan Guillen has represented House District 31 since 2003. In the 2020 general election, voters in District 31 reelected Guillen with over 58% of the vote.

121. Representative Guillen served on the House Redistricting Committee, but he did not appear to have had significant input into the composition of his district. District 31 did not change from the statewide initial proposal to the final enacted plan. 122. In the enacted 2021 House plan, District 31 includes 11 counties, extendingfurther north than in the current configuration. Figure 10 depicts enacted 2021 House District31.



Figure 10: Enacted House District 31 (Adopted 2021)

123. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that enacted 2021 District 31 has a Latino CVAP concentration of 64.5%, a reduction of 10.9 percentage points from the current plan. Texas's estimate indicates that 2021 District 31 has a Latino CVAP concentration of 66.6%, a reduction of 10.6 percentage points from the current plan. In 2020, SSVR in enacted 2021 District 31 was 63.9%, and SSTO was 56.3%. Thus, the enacted 2021 House plan reduces SSVR in District 31 by 10.2 percentage points and reduces SSTO in District 31 by 12.4 percentage points. Table 5 sets out these changes in full.

Latino	CVAP	SS	VR	SS	ГО
2013 Plan	2021 Plan	2013 Plan	2021 Plan	2013 Plan	2021 Plan
75.4	64.5	74.1	63.9	68.7	56.3

## Table 5: House District 31 Comparison

124. Enacted 2021 District 31 no longer provides an opportunity for Latino voters to elect representatives of their choice.

125. Soon after passage of the 2021 House plan, political observers identified the district as substantially less favorable to Representative Guillen. Although voters in District 31 had elected Guillen as a Democrat for nearly two decades, less than a month after enactment of the 2021 House plan, Guillen switched parties from Democratic to Republican.

126. The elimination of a Latino electoral opportunity in the 2021 version of District 31 was easily avoidable. For example, by moving Jim Wells County and Kleberg County from District 43 to District 31 and moving Wilson County and Karnes County from District 31 to District 43, it would be possible to reduce overall population deviations in the two districts, improve compactness, and restore Latino voting strength in District 31.

127. An illustrative district composed of the following eleven whole counties would establish that the Latino community in South Texas is sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in an additional single-member district that would provide Latino voters with an electoral opportunity: Brooks, Duval, Kenedy, Jim Hogg, Jim Wells, Kleberg, La Salle, Live Oak, McMullen, Starr, and Zapata.

128. Latino voters in District 31 are cohesive in the most relevant elections, including elections for House District 31.

### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 36 of 45

129. In District 31 under the enacted 2021 House plan, extreme bloc voting by Anglo voters will enable them usually to defeat Latino voters' preferred candidates, despite Latino voters making up a majority of the electorate.

130. Latino voters in South Texas bear the effects of discrimination to an even greater degree than do minority voters in some other parts of the State, which hinders their ability to participate effectively in the political process despite population majorities. For example, the estimated average per capita income for Latino residents of Starr County—the most populous border county in District 31—is only \$14,126, according to 2015-2019 ACS data. In Wilson County, a majority-Anglo County added to District 31 by the enacted House plan, the estimated average per capita income for Anglo residents is \$37,788, according to the same data.

# Texas House Districts in El Paso and West Texas

131. The enacted 2021 House plan entirely removes District 76 from El Paso County, eliminating an effective Latino opportunity district and pairing two Latina incumbents. This allowed the House plan to substantially overpopulate heavily Latino districts in El Paso County and West Texas and substantially underpopulate heavily Anglo districts in West Texas and the Panhandle, protecting Anglo voting strength and Anglo incumbents in a slow-growth region.

132. Under the current 2013 House plan, El Paso County and West Texas are divided into six heavily Latino districts.

133. Under the current 2013 House plan, five districts are contained entirely within El Paso County (Districts 75, 76, 77, 78, and 79), and a sixth, District 74, is spread across twelve counties. Figure 11 depicts the current 2013 House districts in El Paso County and West Texas.



Figure 11: Current El Paso and West Texas House Districts (Adopted 2013)

134. 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that Districts 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, and 79 in the 2013 House plan have Latino CVAP concentrations of 74.5%, 87.7%, 86.7%, 74.3%, 66.5%, and 78.5%, respectively (74.5%, 89.4%, 85.8%, 73.3%, 65.4%, and 79.2% by Texas's estimate). In 2020, SSVR in these districts was 67.7%, 76.6%, 79.7%, 62.4%, 53.2%, and 69.5%, and 2020 SSTO was 62.9%, 75.9%, 80.1%, 60.7%, 52.7%, and 70.6%.

135. In 2020, voters in these districts elected Eddie Morales (L), Mary González (L),Claudia Ordaz Perez (L), Evelina "Lina" Ortega (L), Joe Moody (L), and Art Fierro (L).

136. Few elections for the Texas House have been contested in these districts.

137. In the current 2013 House plan, each of these districts provided Latino voters with the opportunity to elect their preferred representatives to the Texas House.

138. In the enacted 2021 House plan, Districts 74, 75, 77, 78, and 79 include a portion of El Paso County. District 76 has been removed entirely from the region. Figure 12 depicts the enacted 2021 House districts in El Paso County and West Texas.

Figure 12: Enacted El Paso and West Texas House Districts (Adopted 2021)



139. In the enacted 2021 House plan, the five remaining districts in El Paso and West Texas are uniformly overpopulated, by an average of 4.25% above the ideal population. District 77 is overpopulated by 4.95% above the ideal, and District 78 is overpopulated by 4.88% above the ideal.

140. Because the enacted 2021 House Plan overpopulated the El Paso and West Texas districts, it is possible to uniformly underpopulate heavily Anglo districts in West Texas and the Panhandle. Specifically, Districts 69, 71, 72, 82, 83, 84, 86, 87, and 88 are underpopulated by an average of 3.75% below the ideal population. District 69 is underpopulated by 4.52% below the

ideal, and District 86 is underpopulated by 4.63% below the ideal. Both are less than 25% Latino CVAP.

141. By removing District 76 from El Paso County, the enacted 2021 House plan pairs Representative Claudia Ordaz Perez of District 76 and Representative Lina Ortega of District 77.

142. By moving District 74 into El Paso County, the enacted 2021 House plan pairs sizeable Latino communities in El Paso and Eagle Pass, which are nearly 500 miles apart.

143. In the enacted 2021 House plan, 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data indicate that Districts 74, 75, 77, 78, and 79 have Latino CVAP concentrations of 75.6%, 87.9%, 86.0%, 67.4%, and 76.6%, respectively (77.4%, 89.8%, 85.6%, 66.4%, and 75.1% by Texas's estimate). In 2020, SSVR in these districts was 68.2%, 76.9%, 76.6%, 53.9%, and 67.4%, and 2020 SSTO was 65.2%, 76.0%, 75.9%, 52.8%, and 69.0%, respectively. Table 6 sets out those changes in full.

District	Latino CVAP		SSVR			
District	2013 Plan	2021 Plan	2013 Plan	2021 Plan		
74	74.5	75.6	67.7	68.2		
75	87.7	87.9	76.6	76.9		
76	86.7	n/a	79.7	n/a		
77	74.3	86.0	62.4	76.6		
78	66.5	67.4	53.2	53.9		
79	78.5	76.6	69.5	67.4		

Table 6: El Paso and West Texas House District Comparison

144. Latino voters in El Paso and West Texas are cohesive in the most relevant elections in the past decade.

145. Latino voters in this region outside of Districts 74, 75, 77, 78, and 79 in the enacted 2021 House plan—most notably in Districts 53 and 81—will not be able to elect their preferred candidates due to Anglo bloc voting.

146. The elimination of District 76 as a Latino electoral opportunity district in the enacted 2021 House plan could have been avoided. The Latino community in El Paso and West Texas is sufficiently large and geographically compact to allow for six districts with Latino CVAP majorities that would provide an electoral opportunity to Latino voters. In one such configuration, District 75 would include a portion of El Paso County and areas to the east, whereas District 74 would extend father north from the border, while still maintaining an adequate Latino population share to provide an electoral opportunity.

# Additional Facts Relevant to Inquiry into Discriminatory Purpose and Totality of Circumstances

147. Texas has a long history of official discrimination fouching on the right to vote.
Beyond redistricting, as described in Paragraphs 19-21, *supra*, federal intervention has been necessary to eliminate numerous other procedures or devices intentionally used to restrict minority voting in Texas. *See, e.g., White*, 412 U.S. at 768 (poll tax); *Terry v. Adams*, 345 U.S. 461 (1953) (private primary); *Smith v. Allwright*, 321 U.S. 649 (1944) (white primary); *Nixon v. Herndon*, 273 U.S. 536 (1927) (exclusion of minorities). In recent years, courts have found that Texas's voter identification requirements discriminated against minority voters. *See, e.g., Veasey v. Abbott*, 830 F.3d 216, 243-65 (5th Cir. 2016) (en banc).

148. Voting in Texas continues to be racially polarized throughout much of the State. By one recent estimate, Anglo voters and Latino voters in Texas differ in their support for statewide candidates by 30-40 percentage points. *See, e.g., Veasey*, 830 F.3d at 258. This perpetuates a longstanding pattern of statewide polarization previously recognized by the Supreme Court. *See LULAC*, 548 U.S. at 427.

149. Based on 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data, proportional representation for Latino voters in Texas would be 11 Congressional seats and 45 Texas House

### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 41 of 45

seats. Under the enacted 2021 plans, Latino voters have the opportunity to elect their preferred candidates in 7 Congressional seats and 29 Texas House seats. Latino voters also have the opportunity to contribute to the election of preferred candidates in coalition with other minority voters in one Congressional seat and 5 Texas House seats.

150. Based on 2020 Census data and 2015-2019 ACS citizenship data, proportional representation for Black voters in Texas would be 5 Congressional seats and 20 Texas House seats. Under the enacted plans, Black voters have the opportunity to elect their preferred candidates in roughly 3 Congressional seats and 13 Texas House seats. Black voters also have the opportunity to contribute to the election of preferred candidates in coalition with other minority voters in one Congressional seat and 5 Texas House seats.

151. Latinos and African Americans are underrepresented as elected officials in Texas, including in the Texas delegation to the U.S. House of Representatives and the Texas House. Over sixty percent of Texas Legislators in the 87th Legislature are Anglo, even though Anglos make up only 40% of Texas's population, 43% of the State's VAP, and a bare majority of Texas's CVAP.

152. According to the Census Bureau Current Population Survey, only 63% of eligible Latino Texans and 70% of eligible Black Texans were registered to vote in the 2020 Presidential election, as compared to over 78% of eligible Anglo Texans. Overall, according to the Current Population Survey, only 53% of eligible Latino Texans and 61% of Black Texans voted in the 2020 Presidential elections, as compared to 72% of eligible Anglo Texans.

153. As of November 2020, only 24% of registered voters in Texas had Spanish surnames (as defined by the State), substantially less than the Latino CVAP share.

### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 42 of 45

154. Significant socioeconomic disparities exist between Anglo and Latino residents of Texas. These disparities hinder the ability of Latino residents to participate effectively in the political process.

155. According to ACS data, Latinos and Blacks in Texas experience poverty at roughly twice the rate of Anglos, and the Anglo median household income is over one and onehalf times Latino and Black median household levels. Latinos and Blacks in Texas are also far more likely than Anglos to be unemployed and to lack a high school diploma.

156. In the third quarter of 2021, the unemployment rate for Black Texas residents was 9.2%, more than double the 4.1% unemployment rate for Anglo Texans. The unemployment rate for Latino Texans was 7.0%, again nearly twice as high as the rate for Anglo Texans.

157. Minority Texans also lack health insurance at substantially higher rates than do Anglo Texas, with over a quarter of Latino Texans uninsured.

158. In areas including education, employment, and housing, Texas and jurisdictions across the State similarly have engaged in widespread official discrimination. *See, e.g.*, Consent Decree, *United States v. City of Austin*, No. 1:14-cv-533 (W.D. Tex. June 9, 2014), ECF No. 3-4 (employment); *United States v. Texas*, 601 F.3d 354, 373-74 (5th Cir. 2010) (education); *Dews v. Town of Sunnyvale*, 109 F. Supp. 2d 526, 571-73 (N.D. Tex. 2000) (housing).

159. Some Texas Congressional and legislative districts are geographically enormous, which impedes the ability of minority voters to participate in the political process.

160. Some political campaigns in Texas have been characterized by racial appeals.

### **CAUSE OF ACTION**

161. The United States realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth above.

### Case 3:21-cv-00299-DCG-JES-JVB Document 1 Filed 12/06/21 Page 43 of 45

162. Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act establishes that "[n]o voting qualification or prerequisite to voting or standard, practice, or procedure shall be imposed or applied by any State or political subdivision in a manner which results in a denial or abridgement of the right of any citizen of the United States to vote on account of race[,] color, [or membership in a language minority group]." 52 U.S.C. § 10301(a).

163. A violation of Section 2 "is established if, based on the totality of circumstances, it is shown that the political processes leading to nomination or election in the State or political subdivision are not equally open to participation by members of a class of citizens protected by [Section 2] in that its members have less opportunity than other members of the electorate to participate in the political process and to elect representatives of their choice." 52 U.S.C. § 10301(b).

164. The 2021 Congressional Plan has the purpose of denying or abridging the right to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group in violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301.

165. The 2021 Congressional Plan results in a denial or abridgement of the right of citizens of the United States to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group, in violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301.

166. The 2021 House Plan results in a denial or abridgement of the right of citizens of the United States to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group, in violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301.

167. Unless enjoined by order of this Court, Defendants will continue to violate Section 2 by administering, implementing, and conducting elections for the Texas Congressional delegation and the Texas House using the 2021 Congressional Plan and the 2021 House Plan.

### PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States prays that the Court enter an order:

(1) Declaring that the 2021 Congressional Plan has the purpose of denying or abridging the right to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group in violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301;

(2) Declaring that the 2021 Congressional Plan results in a denial or abridgement of the right of any citizen of the United States to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group, in violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301;

(3) Declaring that the 2021 House Plan results in a denial or abridgement of the right of any citizen of the United States to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group, in violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301;

(4) Enjoining Defendants, their agents and successors in office, and all persons acting in concert with them from administering, implementing, or conducting any future elections for the Texas Congressional Delegation under the 2021 Congressional Plan and for the Texas House and the 2021 House Plan;

(5) Establishing interim redistricting plans for the Texas Congressional Delegation and the Texas House that remedy unlawful components of the 2021 Congressional Plan and 2021 House Plan;

(6) Ordering Defendants to devise and implement permanent redistricting plans for the Texas Congressional Delegation and the Texas House that comply with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act;

(7) Directing Defendants, their agents and successors in office, and all persons acting in concert with them to take appropriate action to ensure uniform compliance with this Court's order by state and local authorities administering the State's electoral processes; and

(8) Granting such additional relief as the interests of justice may require.

Date: December 6, 2021

PAMELA S. KARLAN Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General Civil Rights Division

<u>/s/ Daniel J. Freeman</u> T. CHRISTIAN HERREN, JR. TIMOTHY F. MELLETT DANIEL J. FREEMAN JANIE ALLISON (JAYE) SITTON JACKI L. ANDERSON JASMIN LOTT Attorneys, Voting Section Civil Rights Division U.S. Department of Justice 950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW Washington, DC 20530